# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD WILLIAM DUFOUR,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 65,694

SID J. WHITE

JAN 28 1985

CLERK, SUFFICIVIE COURTS

Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
1012 South Ridgewood Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida
32014-6183

Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida. In the Brief the Appellee will be referred to as "the State," and the Appellant will be referred to as he appears before this Honorable Court.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Orange County Grand Jury on January 20, 1983, for the first-degree murder of Zack Doyle Miller. (R 2224) He was tried by a jury on May 21 through 31, 1984, and found guilty as charged. (R 1460, 2670) A trial on the penalty was held on June 15, 1984, and the jury recommended that the death sentence be imposed. (R 1642, 2711) Appellant was sentenced on July 3, 1984, to death by electrocution. (R 1657-1660, 2720-2721, 2722-2723) Appellant's motion for a new trial was timely filed and was denied on July 3, 1984. (R 2679-2682, 1495, 1500, 1640, 1649, 2718-2719)

Notice of appeal was timely filed on August 1, 1984, and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant on appeal. (R 2727, 2728)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 6, 1982, Zack Doyle Miller's body was discovered under an orange bedspread in an orange grove on Gatlin Avenue in Orange County, Florida. (R 626, 679) He had died from two gunshot wounds causing injury to his brain and hemorrhaging in his chest, some time late in the evening of September 4th or the early morning of September 5th. (R 679, 680, 681, 682, 685, 686) A bullet recovered from his body and spent casings found in the orange grove were consistent with having been fired in a Ravens Arms .25 calibre semiautomatic pistol. (R 697, 700, 701, 703-705, 648, 651, 653) A resident living near the orange grove said that at about 9:30 or ten o'clock on the evening of September 4th, she heard two loud and angry men's voices arguing, a commotion that sounded like running, and what sounded like a shot. (R 620, 621, 622, 623)

Mr. Miller had been last seen by his sister and brother-in-law about nine o'clock in the evening of September 4th, wearing a custom-made gold chain with a nugget pendant, a gold Seiko watch, a diamond horseshoe ring, and a tiger's eye ring.

(R 719, 720, 721, 733, 710, 711, 712, 714, 715) A red chenille bedspread had been in the trunk of his car, and Mark Kite, whom Mr. Miller had met in Jacksonville, had left his orange back pack in the car. (R 737, 788, 790) There was no jewelry found on Mr. Miller's body, and his shoes had been removed. (R 626, 679, 853)

Stacey Sigler, Appellant's former girl friend and lover, testified that one evening in early September 1982, Appellant announced as they drove through Eola Park in Orlando that he

would find a homosexual, rob and kill him. (R 742, 875, 879, 880) Ms. Sigler waited at a bar for Appellant to call, and then met him at his brother's house where he was going through the trunk of a car she had never seen before, out of which came blue floor mats and an orange back pack. (R 881, 882, 883, 884) She said she and Appellant parked the car on a street with orange groves on one side, although a deputy who later found Zack Miller's car said there were no orange groves in the immediate area of where it was found. (R 885, 900, 638)

Ms. Sigler said that that night she saw Appellant wearing two gold chains, one with a nugget pendant, and later she saw a horseshoe ring and one with a gold stone. (R 885, 887, 888) She said Appellant told her that he had killed a man and left him in an orange grove. (R 886)

When Ms. Sigler was questioned in October of 1982, she denied knowing anything about Zack Miller's death, but in December 1983 she contacted an attorney, was granted immunity from prosecution, and changed her story. (R 890, 891, 901) She admitted that frequent drug use since the age of fourteen had affected her memory, but when she testified after the grant of immunity her memory was aided quite a bit by those questioning her. (R 892-896, 903, 904, 909) After her trial testimony was completed, she was arrested that night for armed robbery. (R 1477)

Robert Taylor, a four-time convicted felon, lived in the same triplex apartment building as Appellant and Appellant's brother in 1982, and deemed himself one of Appellant's closest

associates. (R 740, 741, 743, 794) In September 1982, he said he saw Appellant cleaning out Stacey Sigler's car and observed new floor mats and an orange back pack which Appellant threw behind the apartment. (R 744, 746, 747) Appellant, he said, was wearing a medallion necklace, a ring, and a gold Seiko watch, items which Taylor had never seen before. (R 745, 746, 750) Taylor said Appellant told him he had shot a homosexual from Tennessee in an orange grove, using a .25 automatic, and took his (R 747, 748) Taylor helped Appellant disassemble a Raven Arms .25 automatic pistol, which Taylor said he disposed of in a junkyard; but when a detective looked for the gun a month later, the described location was grown over with grass. (R 748, 751, 752, 837, 838, 839, 840) Taylor bought a tiger's eye ring, which he said Appellant told him came from the orange grove robbery, for thirty-five dollars, and gave it to his brother Leoine Taylor. (R 748, 749, 795) Taylor said he had received no deals regarding this prosecution, but he had earlier testified against Appellant in Mississippi in a murder trial, in exchange for a life sentence subject to parole in ten years, had agreed to testify against an accomplice in an Orange County robbery prosecution in exchange for one of his charges being dropped, and was facing murder charges in Georgia. (R 752, 753, 781, 772, 1532, 1533, 1545, 1552, 1560, 1546, 1547, 1552) Taylor at first denied and then admitted to having taken jewelry from his victims in previous robberies committed by him. (R 779)

Ray Ryan, also convicted of "four or five" felonies and granted immunity for three robberies, testified that he too was a

close associate of Appellant's. (R 806, 807, 810, 811, 812)
Around Labor Day of 1982, he said he noticed Appellant with some new jewelry, and commented on the tiger ring and pendant neck-lace. (R 807, 808, 815, 816) When Ryan asked how much he gave for it, Appellant was said to have replied, "You can't afford it. It cost a man his life." (R 807, 808, 809, 813, 816, 826) Ryan said Appellant told him that he had used a .25 automatic when he shot and stabbed the owner of the jewelry, and Ryan also saw Appellant and Robert Taylor dismantling a Raven Arms .25 automatic, at Taylor's direction. (R 809, 810, 814) Taylor, according to Ryan, was the owner of all the guns in that location, and was the planner of various activities. (R 814, 815, 817, 825)

Ryan further testified that he saw not only Appellant but Robert Taylor, Stacey Sigler, and Appellant's brother Gary DuFour wearing the pendant necklace, and at one time Appellant told Ryan he could not give him the necklace because it would make Taylor mad. (R 818, 819, 821) Ryan saw Taylor picking diamonds out of a horseshoe ring, and with a tiger's eye ring. (R 819, 820) There was always a lot of jewelry around Taylor's apartment, he said. (R 821)

In 1984 Richard Dean Miller a/k/a Montgomery a/k/a
Thomas Kipers a/k/a Rosenthal a/k/a Henry Carr was housed in a
single-man cell next to Appellant's in the Orange County Jail.

(R 1257, 1258, 1284, 1285) Miller had been convicted of five
felonies, and had previously cooperated with law enforcement in
exchange for favorable treatment. (R 1287, 1295, 1309) In
exchange for his testimony against Appellant in this case, three

bank robbery charges were dropped, and he understood that the State of Florida would recommend that his sentences in federal court on those charges would run concurrently, and would be served in the federal facilities that he preferred to the State's. (R 1259, 1260, 1281, 1288, 1289, 1292) Frank Tamen, the prosecutor in this case, would speak to the federal judge in Miller's behalf, and Miller would not be required to testify against his sister in other prosecutions. (R 1260, 1294, 1306)

Miller testified that Appellant wanted him to help generate publicity about this case so that a change of venue could be had. (R 1262, 1263) Miller said Appellant told him that he had had an associate drop him off at a store where he met a man with whom he drove to an orange grove where he shot him with a .25 automatic, removed his shoes, and drove the man's car to another orange grove where Stacey Sigler picked him up. (R 1263, 1264, 1266, 1267)

Miller also was allowed to testify that Appellant had wanted to have Stacey Sigler killed because "their" testimony could convict him and he would end up in the electric chair. (R 1271, 1272) Miller said that when he represented that he thought he could have Sigler killed for five thousand dollars, he was given a picture of her with her name and address written on the back. (R 1273, 1274, 1276) Sigler's address was in the telephone book but under her mother's different last name. (R 1236) Miller obtained a second picture of Sigler, he said, and had Appellant write information at the bottom of a note that Miller had penned. (R 1276, 1277)

At the penalty phase trial, Robert Taylor was permitted to testify, over objection, to the details of a murder he and Appellant had committed in Mississippi in October of 1982. 1501, 1503) Although Taylor was usually the planner, in this incident he said he followed Appellant's directions in picking up two homosexual men at a bar in Jackson, and going to their apartment to rob them. (R 1545, 1549, 1550, 1534, 1535, 1536) At the apartment, Taylor found a screwdriver and a steak knife in the kitchen and created a disturbance to distract the victims. (R 1536, 1537, 1539, 1550) He threw the steak knife to Appellant and held one of the men against a wall with the screwdriver. (R 1539, 1550) When Appellant's demands for money were not met, Taylor said, Appellant stabbed one of the men with the steak knife and later with his buck knife, in the chest and arms. (R 1539, 1540, 1541, 1542) Taylor stuck the screwdriver in the second man's chest about four times. (R 1542, 1550) Appellant was convicted of first-degree murder in Mississippi on March 31, 1983. (R 1560) In exchange for his testimony in that case, Taylor was given a life sentence from which he will be eligible for parole in 1992. (R 1532, 1533, 1545, 1546, 1547, 1552, 1560)

In Appellant's behalf, Stacey Sigler and Gary DuFour, Appellant's brother, testified that Appellant was very kind to children and respectful of Sigler's grandmother. (R 1576, 1589) Appellant's alcoholic father had particularly abused Appellant, the youngest of four brothers. (R 1577, 1584, 1583, 1585, 1591) When their father died, Appellant's oldest brother, a homosexual, took him to Gainesville at about age 15 and introduced him to the

"gay" community there. (R 1581, 1582, 1587, 1589, 1592) Appellant had had a drug and alcohol problem since an early age, and in September of 1982 he was using a lot of drugs and drinking a fifth or two of hard liquor every day. (R 1578, 1588, 1579, 1603) He had a poor school record. (R 1594; Defendant's Exhibit 1) A prison ministry worker testified that since being incarcerated Appellant had been spiritually reborn, and wanted to dedicate himself to helping young people avoid his fate. (R 1596, 1602)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### POINT I (Page 14)

A search of Appellant's residence was conducted pursuant to a warrant that had been issued on less than probable cause, <u>i.e.</u>, the affidavit for search warrant did not state when the alleged observations of the informant which connected Appellant to this crime had occurred, or that there was any reason to believe that the fruits of the crime would be found specifically at Appellant's apartment. The search occurred in 1982, prior to the repeal of Florida's constitutional provision that illegally seized evidence be excluded from criminal trials.

## POINT II (Page 18)

An inmate in the isolation cell next to Appellant's in the Orange County Jail testified that Appellant told him the details of the murder, and solicited the inmate to murder a State witness. Appellant argues that the use of the known informant in obtaining self-incriminating statements from the accused violated his right to post-indictment assistance of counsel.

## POINT III (Page 22)

The jail informant testified that Appellant told him he was in jail for "murder," that he had run four or five other guys out of the jail cell, and that the informant's testimony referred to "the single homicide." The prosecutor told the jury in his opening statement about an alleged escape plot that Appellant had discussed with the informant, which testimony was later excluded. Appellant's motions for mistrial as to all these matters were denied.

#### POINT IV (Page 28)

The trial court granted two of the State's motions to limit the defense's cross-examination of Robert Taylor, a key witness against Appellant. Taylor was facing murder charges in Georgia and had been granted "police immunity" for numerous burglaries and robberies; but Appellant was forbidden to ask any questions, in response to which Taylor might invoke the Fifth Amendment, or about any dismissed charges not connected with this case, and was thereby denied his right to effective confrontation of witnesses. POINT V (Page 30)

A detective was permitted to read the transcript of Robert Taylor's prior consistent statement to police officers, improperly bolstering Taylor's credibility where no suggestion of

recent fabrication had been made.

# POINT VI (Page 33)

In discussing the testimony of a witness whose only source of information about the case was his alleged communication with Appellant in jail, the prosecutor told the jury in closing argument that nobody had testified that the witness' testimony was wrong, impliedly referring to Appellant's failure to take the stand and testify at his trial.

## POINT VII (Page 35)

The trial court conducted a pre-trial hearing at which evidence addressed to the admissibility of the jail informant's testimony was taken, where Appellant was absent, hospitalized, and where his presence was not waived.

### POINT VIII (Page 39)

The trial court denied Appellant's motions for a continuance. Defense counsel had previously been denied permission to travel out of state to depose witnesses whose presence in Florida was promised within thirty days of trial. One witness was not made available until within ten working days of trial, and another invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when the defense attempted to depose him, while names of additional witnesses were still being furnished to the defense.

### POINT IX (Page 42)

The prosecutor deposed a witness whose name had been listed on the defense's list of witnesses, without notice to defense counsel and at a proceeding where defense counsel was threatened with physical expulsion. The trial court refused to impose sanctions for the prosecution's violation of the discovery rules.

## POINT X (Page 45)

Appellant was forced to appear before the jury throughout his trial in leg irons, which undermined his right to be presumed innocent.

### POINT XI (Page 47)

A juror was excused because of a strange phone call she received during the trial during which the jury was not sequestered. Against the court's instructions, after she was excused, she communicated with the rest of the jurors about the incident.

### POINT XII (Page 50)

The trial court denied Appellant's requested jury instruction on the penalty proceedings, which would have informed them of their right to recommend life at their discretion.

#### POINT XIII (Page 52)

Evidence of a prior capital conviction introduced at the penalty phase of Appellant's trial was too detailed and became the "feature" of his sentencing trial.

## POINT XIV (Page 56)

Appellant argues that the aggravating circumstances of Section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1983), are substantive elements and must be alleged in the indictment in order to charge a crime punishable by death.

## POINT XV (Page 60)

The trial court improperly found that the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest and in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner.

### POINT XVI (Page 63)

Appellant urges that the Florida capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional.

#### ARGUMENT

# POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPEL-LANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE SEIZED DURING AN ILLEGAL SEARCH OF HIS RESIDENCE.

On October 11, 1982, Detective Payne and other officers of the Orlando Police Department conducted a search of Appellant's triplex apartment. (R 862) A search warrant had been obtained that day on the basis of Detective Payne's affidavit recounting information she had received from Ray Ryan. 3562-3565) The affidavit recited that Detective Payne was an experienced homicide investigator; that Zack Doyle Miller had died from a .25 calibre gunshot wound; that Ray Ryan had seen Appellant in possession of jewelry resembling Zack Miller's sister's description of his jewelry; that Ray Ryan had seen Robert Taylor, Appellant's neighbor, in possession of a .25 calibre Raven Arms automatic and a ring like Zack Miller's; and that Appellant had told Ray Ryan that he had killed a man for his gold jewelry. (R 3562-3565) Although the affidavit, dated October 11, 1982, alleged that Ryan had seen Taylor in possession of the gun within the past ten days, there was no indication of when Appellant possessed the jewelry, or at what location. was also no indication of when Detective Payne interviewed Ray Ryan.

<u>King v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 586 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>Yesnes</u>
<u>v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 628 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); and <u>Blue v. State</u>,
441 So.2d 165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), are all cases dealing with the issuance of a search warrant on the basis of the uncorroborated information of a confidential source, but the insufficiencies of

the affidavits in those cases are the same as in this case where the informant is identified. In <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>, the affidavit was silent regarding the date the illegal activity occurred, and the District Court held that an affidavit supporting a search warrant must contain the specific time or times when the informant observed the illegal activity. Here, there likewise is no indication of when Ray Ryan supposedly saw Appellant with the jewelry.

Yesnes, supra, was another case dealing with unidentified, uncorroborated informants, but where a critical omission from the affidavit was any reference to the location where the photographs sought to be seized might be located. The Yesnes Court analyzed the affidavit and search warrant in light of the then-new "totality of the circumstances" test announced in Illinois v. Gates, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983), and found that an inquiry to determine the reliability of the informants' information was still an integral part of determining the sufficiency of an affidavit.

In <u>Blue</u>, <u>supra</u>, the District Court found that the critical inquiry was not whether the substance the informant observed was probably marijuana, but whether there was a demonstrated probability that the substance came from the defendants' nursery as the informant alleged. Similarly, while Ray Ryan's description of the jewelry allegedly in Appellant's possession corresponded to Faye Sark's, there is no allegation that it was being kept in Appellant's residence or that it had even been seen on those premises. The Blue Court found that the fact that one

<u>could</u> infer that the contraband was on particular premises did not establish the probability that it was in fact on the premises sought to be searched and the affidavit thus failed the <u>Gates</u> test.

In arguing against Appellant's motion to suppress, the prosecutor cited the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in <a href="Smigiel v. State">Smigiel v. State</a>, 439 So.2d 239 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), for the proposition that the October 11, 1982, search warrant affidavit in this case did not contain "stale" information because here, the affidavit was executed five weeks after the crime and in <a href="Smigiel">Smigiel</a>, ten months had elapsed since the crime. (R 1180)

Although the lapse of time in this case was a consideration, the major deficiency in the affidavit was the omission of any indication of where or when Ray Ryan made his observations. The affidavit in <a href="Smigiel">Smigiel</a> stated precisely when the electronic eraser had been used, and concluded with the statement that the named informant, whose information was substantially corroborated otherwise, believed that the eraser was still in the law office whose address was specifically recited.

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