IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD WILLIAM DUFOUR,  
Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Appellee.

CASE NO. 65,694

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAR 20 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

W. BRIAN BAYLY  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue  
Fourth Floor  
Daytona Beach, Florida 32014  
(904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

The court: The objection will be sustained. The motion will be denied. Members of the jury, the last comment about four (4) or five (5) other guys out of there is to be disregarded by you in the consideration of this case.

(R. 1261-62). No other objections to that comment were interposed. The state then requested the witness to confine his answers to the questions.

The state then asked the following question:

Q. . . .After he told you that he was charged with murders, did he tell, at that time, did he tell you any of the facts of the case or the charge against him?

A. No, Sir.

(R. 1262). No objection was interposed to this question at all. The transcript reveals that the defense counsel never objected to the reference of "murders", but only to the comment regarding to the appellant running "four (4) or five (5) other guys out of that cell." In Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982), this court held that a motion for mistrial must be made even if the comment is objectionable on obvious grounds, or else the objection would not be preserved pursuant to Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). See also, State v. Prieto, 439 So.2d 288 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), which had the same holding. In Wilson v. State, 436 So.2d 908, 910-11 (Fla. 1983), a witness was asked by the state what charges the defendant was arrested for in connection with the case. The defendant objected and moved for a mistrial because the answer would have included charges not the subject of the

present information. The court affirmed the conviction and noted that the record did not disclose that the state attorney intentionally tried to show the jury that the defendant was arrested for other crimes. Likewise, in this case, the initial question of the state attorney did not illicit information to show that the defendant was arrested for other crimes. The answer was nonresponsive. Although a subsequent question by the state contains the statement, "After he told you that he was charged with murders," this question merely repeats what was stated by the witness before, to which no objection was interposed.

In Williams v. State, 354 So.2d 112 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), it was held that an inadvertent statement of a witness would not be sufficient grounds for a mistrial, but that a curative instruction would be sufficient. The witness in Williams, stated the defendant had been in prison before, clearly implying that the defendant had been convicted of other crimes. See also, Warren v. State, 443 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), for the same facts and holding as in Williams, supra, and De La Cova, supra.

Finally, in regarding these comments, it has been held that reference in the testimony of a state's witness to other charges was harmless error, in view of a curative instruction and no error occurred when the trial court refused to grant a mistrial motion. See, Riley v. State, 367 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), and Flowers v. State, 351 So.2d 764 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). In view of the lack of objection (and ipso facto, the lack of a request for a curative instruction), these comments certainly should be deemed harmless error.

The prosecutor asked Montgomery what kind of a person did appellant admit killing, to which the witness replied that it had come from "the single homicide." (R. 1268). Again, a mistrial should not have been

granted (even though there was an objection), because the answer was not solicited by the prosecutor. See, Wilson, supra, and De La Cova, supra. A curative instruction would have been sufficient. In Morales v. State, 431 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), a victim testifying for the state of direct, made a number of inflammatory and prejudicial remarks. It was held not an abusive discretion to deny a motion for mistrial where a proper curative instruction was given. See also, United States v. Bain, 736 F.2d 1480, 1488-1489 (11th Cir. 1984), which had the same holding regarding a state's witness mentioning collateral marijuana charges in violation of a previous order in limine, but where a curative instruction was deemed sufficient in lieu of a mistrial. In the case at bar, appellant was offered a curative instruction, but specifically waived that (R 1269). Although a witness has mentioned other crimes for which the defendant is not on trial, or mentions that the defendant has been in custody, which would imply he has committed a collateral crime, these references are generally incurred by a curative instruction, and it is not error to deny a mistrial motion. See, Riley, supra, and Dunn v. State, 341 So.2d 806 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). The court, in denying the motion in the case at bar, noted not only that the question was not responsive to the answer, but commented, "There is no reference to anything in this case up to this point." (R 1269). Indeed, this answer would appear very unclear to a jury, and would not necessarily imply that appellant had been convicted, or was charged with other murders. Taken in context to what the jury had previously heard, this answer is confusing at best. As such, to imply that the jury would infer that appellant had other murder convictions or charges from this comment, would be speculation.

Richard Montgomery, testifying on behalf of the state, made two (2) references that he was in danger in staying at the Orange County

Jail (R. 1308, 1316). None of these comments referred to appellant specifically. Later on in the proceedings, appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial based upon these comments (R. 1320-21). Although the trial court denied the motion for mistrial, he gave the following curative instruction:

I want to instruct you that his testimony concerning any alleged threats or fears that he may have, have nothing to do with this case, or with the defendant in this case, and that testimony therefore, is not to be considered by you in connection with this case.

(R. 1334-35). The curative instruction was adequate to negate any putative error. In addition, the instruction included the words "alleged threats or fears", so that any intention that the trial court was "bolstering" the witnesses credibility would be negated by the word "alleged." Additionally, the state attorney noted that some of these threats did come from the appellant and in light of the extensive cross-examination undergone by the inmate-witness, (i.e., regarding the witnesses' motives to "curry favor" with the state and to obtain "deals"), such evidence would be proper to rebut the cross-examination (R. 1323-24). As such, the curative instruction was more than adequate to negate any alleged error.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT HAD THE DISCRETION  
TO LIMIT THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF  
ROBERT TAYLOR.

Appellant takes issue with the trial court's granting a motion not allowing the defense to delve into the facts of a pending murder charge in Georgia regarding the prosecution witness, Robert Taylor (R 2564). The court, in granting the motion, did not prohibit the defense from impeaching the witness regarding the murder charge but merely prohibited the defense from delving into the facts (R 1212). Even on direct examination it was brought up that Mr. Taylor was facing a pending murder charge in Georgia (R 752-753). On re-cross-examination it was brought out that the witness hoped to have the state attorney speak up on his behalf at the upcoming Georgia murder trial (R 783-784). The motion in limine was brought up again by defense counsel but the state attorney and defense counsel agreed to the following question which was asked on cross-examination:

Q. Mr. Taylor, you testified that the Georgia murder charge had not been filed at the time you first started your co-operation, but in fact in the charge in Georgia, that murder had already occurred, had it not, at that time?

A. It's my understanding.

(R 785-786). Nothing further was proffered by the defense and no further objections were entertained.

Appellant cites Perez v. State, 453 So.2d 173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), to support his cause. In Perez the facts of the particular charge were relevant to impeach the witness because the witness allegedly made a knife while in prison to assault the defendant. Obviously, the facts of the upcoming charge were relevant to the defense in Perez. In the case at bar,

appellant proffers no facts to tie in the Georgia case with the present case. If the Georgia case involved Mr. Dufour, then Perez could possibly be applicable. But there was no such proffer and unlikely no such connection.<sup>2</sup>

Hernandez v. State, 360 So.2d 39 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), involved impeachment where the defense counsel maintained an assault victim had reason to fabricate the charges because he was pro-Castro while the defendant was anti-Castro. This impeachment was rebuked because it was not relevant and the Third District held that the "prospect of bias on the part of a prosecution witness (does) not open the door to every question that might possibly develop the subject." Id. at 41. See also, Nelson v. State, 395 So.2d 176, 177-178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), where it was held that cross-examination must be shown to be relevant in attempting to ask a store security witness what the civil liability policies were for arresting a shoplifter was held not to fit this criteria. It must be remembered that the defense counsel could not conduct a general character attack under the guides of impeachment regarding the facts of the Georgia murder. See, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1982).

The proffer was inadequate to show the relevancy of the Georgia murder facts regarding Taylor's impeachment (R 769). As such, appellant has failed to show any harm to his case for impeaching Taylor. In United States v. Finkelstein, 526 F.2d 517, 529 (2d Cir. 1975), the court distinguished Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974). In Davis, the court noted the witness's denial appeared to be of questionable truthfulness, but in Finkelstein the defendant failed to show how the pro-

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant asserts that Taylor should have testified on the facts of the Georgia case because he would receive use immunity pursuant to § 914.04, Fla. Stat. (1983). Aside from the facts not being relevant to the case, appellee notes that this statute may not apply to a Georgia trial.

ferred evidence would harm his impeachment. Furthermore, in United States v. Brown, 546 F.2d 166, 177-182 (5th Cir. 1977), it was held that the trial court erred not to allow an answer on cross-examination which went to the witness's bias. But it was held harmless error because the essence of the witness's bias had already been brought forth. In the case at bar, the defense counsel was able to demonstrate to the jury that the witness knew that the Georgia murder had occurred and that he would help the state because he could possibly need the state's assistance if the charges were filed (R 785). So the error, if any, would be at most harmless. In any event, the record discloses that the appellant waived any objection because his counsel below abandon his quest to delve into the facts and agreed to ask the pertinent question regarding the witness's knowledge that the Georgia murder had occurred when he talked to the Florida authorities (R 785).

Initially the trial court also granted the state's motion in limine to prohibit the defense from impeaching Robert Taylor regarding information given to Detective Bourden in late 1982 (R 2565). The motion, which is uncontradicted, explained that Detective Bourden has unsolved crimes which had little evidence regarding the identity of the perpetrator. Detective Bourden asked Taylor if he had committed these crimes but in doing so promised not to file the charges if Taylor "confessed." The detective would "clear" these cases in an effort to apparently save police work and not investigate other suspects for these crimes. None of these charges could be filed against Taylor and the court made such a finding (R 1224). It was also not contested that these "confessions" to Detective Bourden related in any way to the testimony in the present case (R 1223-1224).

It must be remembered that the jury heard that Taylor had four (4) previous felony convictions (R 740). On cross-examination,

appellant was able to divulge from Taylor that he had negotiated a "deal" with the state in which armed robbery convictions would have sentences concurrent with a sentence that the witness was presently serving in Mississippi (R 755-757). The defense attorney was allowed to ask Taylor, "When you committed these various offenses for which you have been previously convicted and for which you have made deals with the state of Florida -- " (R 758-759).<sup>3</sup> Additionally, appellant asked Taylor if he was aware of the Georgia murder at the time he first gave his statement to Detective Hansen in October of 1982 implicating appellant (R 786). It was revealed in cross-examination that Taylor hoped to have the Florida authorities act on his behalf with the upcoming Georgia murder charge (R 783-784). In United States v. Tracey, 675 F.2d 433, 436-439 (1st Cir. 1982) the defense wanted to impeach a government witness by showing that a United States attorney had bailed him out of jail on a drunk and disorderly charge. Other extensive cross-examination had already revealed this witness's bias. The Second Circuit noted that one factor to be considered as the extent to which the excluded question bears upon character traits that were otherwise sufficiently explored. A trial court need not permit unending excursions if the impeachment reasonably completes the picture developed by the defense. Where the cross-examination is not crucial nor would it be that probative no reversible error will be found. See, Taylor v. Curry, 708 F.2d 886, 893 (2d Cir. 1983). Appellant must demonstrate that his inability to inquire about this line of impeachment created a substantial danger of prejudice to test the truth of the witness's testimony. Where a court allows substantial cross-examination and the witness has admitted his bias and the area has sufficiently been

---

<sup>3</sup>Defense counsel brought out that Taylor had made an inconsistent statement to the effect that he took jewelry pursuant to burglaries only when in fact he admitted at trial that he took jewelry pursuant to robberies also (R 779).



explored, no conviction will be reversed on such a confrontation issue. These principals were applied to the facts in United States v. Franzen, 688 F.2d 496, 498-502 (7th Cir. 1982). In the case at bar, the essence of the impeachment was brought to the jury's attention, i.e., the witness was a career criminal, made "deals" with the state for his testimony, and hoped to have the state help him for his upcoming Georgia murder charge. The fact that this witness "confessed" to crimes which could never be charged, and which had nothing to do with this case would be of little significance and would fail in comparison to the impeachment that had already been brought forth to the jury.

Additionally, these "confessions" would unlikely help the witness's cause or status with the state authorities. As such, any error would be harmless. See, United States v. Brown, *supra*.

In fact, appellant never demonstrated that Taylor hoped to, or did "curry favor" with the state by these actions. Defense admitted that they did not have ample time to investigate these cases (R 1224). Since there is a lack of record to develop a confrontation violation, this point should be affirmed. See, United States v. Cunningham, 638 F.2d 696, 699 (4th Cir. 1980).

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT HAD THE DISCRETION  
TO ALLOW THE PROSECUTION TO ADMIT A  
CONSISTENT PRIOR STATEMENT TO REBUT  
AN IMPLIED CHARGE OF RECENT FABRICATION.

Appellant claims the trial court erred under section 90.801(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1983), by allowing the prosecutor to have Detective Hansen relate to the jury a prior consistent statement of the state's witness, Robert Taylor. Detective Hansen had taken Taylor's statement implicating appellant in October of 1982. Appellant argues that this witness, at the time of the statement, was aware of the Georgia murder (R 786) although the charge had not been filed (R 753); ergo the October, 1982 statement to Detective Hansen was not made prior to the existence of the facts or evidence which indicate a motive to falsify.

Initially, appellee would note that the objections asserted at trial (e.g., defense counsel maintained he could not cross-examine a statement) were not the same grounds asserted by appellant herein (R 834-836, 841-843). As such, this point has not been preserved and must be affirmed. In order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific intention asserted as a legal ground for objection or acceptance at the trial level. See, Steinhorst v. State, supra, at 338.

During cross-examination of Robert Taylor, the following information was revealed to the jury:

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